A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Keith Scribner seeks review of the decision issued below. 

B. DECISION BELOW 

Scribner seeks review of the decision below issued on July 16, 

2015. (Appendix A). A motion for reconsideration was filed, and on 

September 3, 2015 the Court of Appeals issued an error-filled Order 

Denying Reconsideration and Denying Motion to Publish. (Appendix B). 

After examining that order, Scribner contacted the Clerk of the Court 

below and pointed out that no one had ever filed a motion to publish, and 

that the order misidentified two of the three panel members who decided 

34the case. 1 On September 15, 2015, the Court of Appeals issued an 

Amended Order Denying Reconsideration, which corrected the names of 

the panel judges deciding the case, and deleted the prior reference to a 

motion to publish. Appendix C)? 

C. INTRODUCTION 

In multiple act cases the jurors must be instructed that in order to 

convict the defendant they must identify at least one act that all twelve of 

them agree constituted the crime. When they are not so instructed, there 

is a violation of the right to a unanimous jury verdict. When that happens 

1 The September 3rd Order identified the three panel members as Judges Brown, 
Korsmo and Siddoway. But in fact the three judges who heard argument and decided 
Scribner's case were Judges Brown, Fearing and Lawrence-Berrey. 

2 In the cover letter that accompanied the Amended Order Denying Reconsideration, 
the Clerk stated that Scribner had thirty days from the filing of the amended order in 
which to seek discretionary review. (Appendix C). 
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appellate courts must decide if the constitutional error was harmless. 

But the law regarding the proper harmless error test for violation of 

the right to a unanimous jury verdict is in a state of utter confusion. This 

Court first adopted one test in State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566, 683 P .2d 

173 (1984). It then repudiated that test and adopted a different test in 

State v. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d 403, 756 P.2d 105 (1988). Finally, in State v. 

Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 794 P.2d 850 (1990), this Court issued an 

opinion which made reference to both tests. While the two tests are 

radically different, the Camarillo opinion failed to recognize this, treated 

the two tests as if they were the same, and thus produced an opinion which 

is internally inconsistent. In the present case, the Court of Appeals, relied 

solely upon the one sentence in Camarillo that referred to the repudiated 

harmless error test of Petrich, while ignoring the parts of Camarillo that 

refer to the Kitchen test. In his reconsideration motion, Scribner pointed 

out the internal conflict in the Camarillo opinion and asked the Court of 

Appeals to recognize that it had erroneously applied the repudiated Petrich 

test. But the Court of Appeals denied reconsideration without discussing, 

or even acknowledging, the conflict between the two tests; without 

acknowledging the conflict within the Camarillo opinion; and without 

applying the Kitchen test. 

D. ISSUES PRESENTED 

1. In a multiple-act case, what is the correct test for determining 
whether a violation of the right to a unanimous jury verdict 
was harmless? Is it the Petrich test, or the Kitchen test? 

2. When one jury instruction conflicts with two other 
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instructions, and there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury 
was confused and applied the wrong law, is a new trial 
required under the due process doctrine of cases like Boyde v. 
California and State v. Lewis? 

3. When a defendant is on trial for attempting to perpetrate an 
insurance fraud, and one of the investigators testifies that 
claim the defendant submitted was denied for "concealment or 
fraud," does the failure of defense counsel to object to such 
testimony constitute ineffective assistance of counsel in 
violation of the Sixth Amendment? 

4. When a defendant's doctor fails to order an available medical 
diagnostic test, is that "a failure to exercise due diligence" in 
discovering evidence that could have been discovered prior to 
trial which precludes granting a new trial? 

E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Scribner was convicted of one count of Attempted Theft 1 o and one 

count of Submitting a False Claim to an insurance company. CP 148-49. 

After a big snowstorm, an awning on the side of the home owned by 

Scribner's elderly mother, Marilyn Warsinke, collapsed from the weight 

of the snow. Slip Opinion ("SO"), 2. Scribner helped his mother present a 

claim on her homeowner's policy to her insurance company. SO, 2. 

Ultimately, the insurance company never paid anything on the claim 

because it decided that the claim was fraudulent. SO, 3. 

The claim made was premised on the representation that the 

collapsed awning was quite large, running the entire length of the house. 

SO, 2. The debris from the collapsed awning was cleared away and it was 

not until many months later that insurance investigators came to inspect 

the house. The investigators asked Scribner if there had ever been an 

appraisal of his mother's house, and whether his mother had any photos of 
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the house which showed the awning. Scribner said there had been no 

appraisal, and there were no pre-loss photos. But the insurance company 

eventually discovered that there had been an appraisal, and that photos 

had been taken. SO, 2-3. The appraisal photos showed that the collapsed 

awning was nowhere near as large as Scribner had said. SO, 2. 

Scribner testified that he had made an honest mistake. He said: 

(1) that he truly (but erroneously) remembered that the awning was as 

large as he had said it was; (2) that he did not recall that his mother's 

house had been appraised; and (3) that he thought that there were no pre

loss photos of the house. 

Although there was some medical evidence to support Scribner's 

claim that he had a faulty memory, Scribner did not present this evidence 

at his trial. Scribner told his counsel that he had some medical problems 

as a result of exposure to some toxic chemicals, but his counsel chose not 

to present any medical evidence to support Scribner's trial testimony that 

he had a poor memory. 

At trial the State presented evidence that the insurance company 

did not believe Scribner and that it concluded that he had tried to defraud 

the company. One investigator testified that the company denied the 

insurance claim for four reasons. SO, 4. The prosecutor asked the 

investigator to confirm that one of those reasons was "concealment or 

fraud." S0,4. Defense counsel did not object, and the investigator 

responded, "Correct." SO, 4. 

Scribner argued that his attorney's failure to object constituted 
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ineffective assistance of counsel. Two of the judges below were not 

persuaded that the investigator's testimony constituted an impermissible 

opinion on guilt, but ruled that "[ e ]ven assuming that the statement was 

inadmissible and defense counsel was deficient for not objecting, Mr. 

Scribner cannot establish prejudice." SO, 13. One judge concurred in this 

result, reasoning that investigator's "testimony that Liberty Northwest 

denied the claim based on fraud should have been objected to by Keith 

Scribner's counsel and should have been excluded," but agreed with the 

other judges that counsel's "failure to object to the testimony did not 

prejudice Keith Scribner." Fearing, J, Concurring. 

As the Court below noted, the information charged Scribner with 

committing both offenses sometime during a period of 13-1/2 months: 

SO, 3. 

The State charged Mr. Scribner with submitting a false claim or 
proof to an insurance company and attempted first degree theft. 
The information specified Mr. Scribner committed each of the two 
charged crimes during the period of time "from July 31, 2009 to 
October 13, 2010." [Citation]. The charging period was from the 
date the insured made the claim (July 31, 2009) to the date Liberty 
Northwest denied the claim (October 13, 2010). 

Although there were only two charges, the trial judge gave the jury 

three to-convict instructions. Two of these instructions, (Nos. 8 & 12), 

specified what had to be proved in order to convict Scribner of the two 

charged crimes: causing the presentment of a False Claim or Proof 

(Count I) and Attempted Theft ] 0 (Count II). The third to-convict 

instruction (No. 15) told the jury what had to be proved in order to convict 
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Scribner of the completed offense of Theft 1 °, even though Scribner was 

never charged with any completed theft offense. 

The initial drafts of all three of these to-convict instructions stated 

that the prosecution had to prove that the crime in question occurred 

within the 13-1/2 month charging period. But on the last day of trial 

defense counsel pointed out that this created a jury unanimity problem 

because the prosecution was claiming that each of several different acts 

committed within that period constituted the crime charged. RP 1026-

1028. Therefore, defense counsel argued that a Petrich multiple acts, jury 

unanimity instruction was required. The trial judge "instructed the parties 

to craft a Petrich instruction, but when they could not agree on the 

language," the trial judge modified the language of Instructions 8 and 12 

"by changing the charging period [sic]3 of July 31,2009 through October 

13, 201 0 to specify the single date of January 11, 201 0." SO, 4. But the 

trial judge did not modify the language of Instr. No. 15 -the to-convict 

instruction on what the court referred to as "the underlying crime" of 

completed first degree theft - leaving the reference to the entire 13-112 

month period in that instruction. SO, 4-5. 4 

3 The judge didn't actually change the "charging period" since she did not amend the 
information, but she did change the time period mentioned in these two instructions. 

4 "[I]nstruction [No. 15] contained the broader language of "July 31, 2009 to and 
including October 13, 2010" to convict Mr. Scribner of first degree theft. CP at 140. The 
court allowed the instruction because the "substantial step can be pinpointed at the 
[January 11, 20 10] meeting, but your theft, the underlying crime, still has that range of 
dates that allows the State to argue this deception through these events." RP at 1134-35. 
Instruction 8 (to-convict on false claims of proof) and Instruction 12 (to-convict on 
attempted first degree theft) both limit the occurrence date to January 11, 20 10." SO, 5. 
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Defense counsel objected that modifying Nos. 8 and 12, without 

also modifying No. 15, did not solve the problem because No. 15 still 

referred to a 13-1/2 month period during which Scribner committed 

several acts. RP 113 8. 5 The trial judge noted defense counsel's exception 

to Instruction No. 15, refused to give a Petrich jury unanimity instruction, 

and gave both instruction Nos. 8 and 12 (which referred to one specific 

day) and No. 15 (which referred to the 13-1/2 month period. 

The Court of Appeals acknowledged that there were multiple acts 

alleged to constitute the basis for each count, but held that any violation of 

the right to jury unanimity was harmless. The Court gave two reasons in 

support of this conclusion. First, despite the fact that in closing the 

prosecutor explicitly argued that each of several acts constituted attempted 

Theft 1°, the Court said there had been "an election" of the act committed 

on January 11, 2010 (that is, the act of stating that the collapsed awning 

had run the whole length of the house). Even though the prosecutor had 

not confined her argument to this one act, the Court of Appeals reasoned 

that the jury instructions had made such an election. SO, 9. 

The instructions as a whole informed the jury that in order to find 
Mr. Scribner guilty of false claims or proof and attempted first 
degree theft, it had to conclude Mr. Scribner misrepresented the 
size of the awning to Mr. Evans and Mr. Steele on January 11, 
2010. This was clearly specified in the to-convict instructions on 

5 He noted that several acts were committed during that time period: (I) the cleaning 
up of the debris from the collapse of the awning in 2009; (2) the making of a statement on 
January II, 2010 about the size ofthe collapsed awning; and (3) the making of additional 
statements later in 20 I 0 that there had been no appraisal of his mother's home when she 
bought it; and (4) that there were no pre-loss photos of the awning. 
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these offenses (8 and 12). 

SO, 9-10 (emphasis added). 

The fact that Instruction No. 15- the third to-convict instruction-

did not specify a single date, and referred instead to a 13-1/2 month 

period, did not dissuade the Court of Appeals. According to the Court: 

"Instruction 15 did not conflict with instructions 8 or 12; rather, it was 

superfluous." SO, 10. 6 

Second, relying on one sentence m Camarillo, the Court of 

Appeals concluded that "any unanimity problem was harmless error 

because there was sufficient evidence for the jurors to have concluded that 

Scribner was guilty because each of the multiple acts occurred: 

SO, 9. 

We review the failure to give a multiple acts unanimity instruction 
for constitutional harmless error. [Citation]. Such an error is not 
harmless unless "a rational trier of fact could find that each 
incident was proved beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. 
Camarillo, 115 Wn.2d 60, 65, 794 P.2d 850 (1990) (quoting State 
v. Gitchel, 41 Wn. App. 820, 823, 706 P.2d 1091 (1985). 

Instead of asking whether a rational juror could have had a 

reasonable doubt as to Scribner's guilt based on any one of the multiple 

acts, the Court of Appeals considered whether a rational juror could have 

6 Apparently the Court concluded that No. 15 was "superfluous" because it referred to 
the completed offense of Theft I and that crime was never charged. "Therefore" - the 
court reasoned- the jury must have paid no attention to it. Since the jury didn't convict 
Scribner of the completed offense of Theft I (how could it since no verdict form referred 
to that offense?), the court of Appeals reasons the jury must have just disregarded 
Instruction No. 15 entirely. The Court simply ignores the possibility that the jury used 
the time period specified in Instr. No. 15 - the instruction that defined the completed 
crime that Scribner was accused of attempting to commit - when deciding whether 
Scribner did in fact take a substantial step towards committing that crime. 
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been persuaded beyond a reasonable doubt that one of the acts alleged -

misrepresenting the size of the collapsed awning -- constituted an attempt 

to deceive the insurance company into paying on his mother's claim: 

Moreover, any unanimity problem was harmless error. Substantial 
evidence established Mr. Scribner knowingly made a material 
misrepresentation when he told Liberty Northwest the awning 
destroyed was a large elaborate awning costing hundreds of 
thousands of dollars to adequately replace. Mr. Starkey, the prior 
homeowner, testified the awning was hand-built by him at the cost 
of approximately $300 and that it covered less than half the deck. 
The photographic exhibits, appraisal, and testimony established the 
prior awning did not cover the whole deck. A rational juror 
considering this evidence could solely conclude Mr. Scribner 
lied. 

SO, 1 0 (emphasis added). But the Court never asked whether a rational 

juror "could" conclude that the State had not proved that Scriber 

"knowingly made a material misrepresentation when he told Liberty 

Northwest" that there had been no appraisal when his mother bought the 

house, or when he told the company that there were no pre-loss photos of 

the awning. It did not ask whether a "rational trier of fact could have 

entertained a reasonable doubt that each incident established the crime 

beyond a reasonable doubt," as required by Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d at 406. 

F. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 

1. The law in this State is hopelessly confused as to which 
harmless error test applies to violations of the right to a 
unanimous jury verdict in a multiple acts case.7 This is a 
constitutional issue of great importance. 

7 Because there are so many conflicts both between and within the opinions of the 
Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals' opinion in Gitchel, all of the criteria in RAP 
13 .4(b) are met in this case. 
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(a) The issue is unsettled because Camarillo -- the last decision 
of this Court to address this issue - is internally 
contradictory. Part of Camarillo conflicts with the Court's 
previous decision in Kitchen. 

This Court has struggled to identify the appropriate harmless error 

rule for the violation of the constitutional right to a unanimous jury verdict 

in multiple act cases. Initially, in State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566, 573, 

683 P.2d 173 (1984), this Court adopted a test under which the error is 

harmless "if a rational trier of fact could have found each incident proved 

beyond a reasonable doubt." Four years later, in State v. Kitchen, 110 

Wn.2d 403, 406, 756 P.2d 105 (1988), this Court acknowledged it had 

misstated the proper harmless error test, repudiated the Petrich test, and 

held that the violation of the right to a unanimous jury verdict in a multiple 

act case is harmless "only if no rational trier of fact could have entertained 

a reasonable doubt that each incident established the crime beyond a 

reasonable doubt." The Kitchen opinion states, "Aside from its 

enunciation of the harmless error test, Petrich remains good law." !d. 

The difference between these two tests is enormous. The Petrich 

test is a "sufficient-to-find-guilt" test. Under the repudiated Petrich test, 

the error is harmless so long as it is possible that a jury could have found 

that each of the multiple acts constituted the crime charged. Only if the 

evidence is insufficient to support a guilty verdict for one of the multiple 

acts, does the error require reversal. Since prosecutors seldom make 

accusations for which they have no potentially credible evidence, the 

Petrich test is extremely easy to satisfy. 
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The Kitchen test, on the other hand, is extremely difficult to satisfy. 

Under the Kitchen test, the error is presumed to be prejudicial and a new 

trial is required unless it is impossible for any rational juror to have 

"entertained a reasonable doubt" as to any one of the multiple incidents. 

Thus, the Kitchen test is accurately described as "possible-to-acquit" or 

"possible to have a reasonable doubt" test. If it is possible for a rational 

person to have found that the State failed to prove guilt for any one of the 

multiple acts, then the error requires reversal because it is not harmless. 

The Kitchen test is a much stricter test than the Petrich test. The set of 

cases that satisfy the Petrich test includes a huge number of cases that do 

not satisfy the Kitchen test. That is because in many cases where a 

rational juror "could" find that guilt was proved beyond a reasonable 

doubt for each incident, it is simultaneously true that a rational juror 

"could" have had a reasonable doubt as to one or more of the incidents. 

This is just another way of saying that there are many cases where a 

rational jury could reach either conclusion. Indeed, one would expect 

most tried criminal cases to be cases where it is possible for a rational jury 

to return either a guilty or a not guilty verdict. Moreover, it is quite 

possible for one rational juror to have a reasonable doubt while another 

juror does not have a reasonable doubt. Every one of these "it-could-go

either-way" cases would satisfy the Petrich harmless error test; but none 

of these cases would meet the stricter Kitchen harmless error test. 

In Kitchen this Court partially overruled Petrich and changed the 

harmless error test from the sufficiency test (a rational juror could have 
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been convinced beyond a reasonable doubt) to the rational reasonable 

doubt case (a rational juror could have entertained a reasonable doubt). 

Reply Brief at 18-19. Kitchen explicitly recognized that the Court has 

erred in Petrich: "[In Petrich] we inadvertently employed the standard 

applicable to alternative means cases rather than the standard for multiple 

act cases." Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d at 410 (italics in original). 

To correct its erroneous statement of the harmless error test in 

Petrich, in Kitchen this Court held that "the proper standard" for 

determining harmless error was stated in Judge Schofield's concurring 

opinion in State v. Loehner, 42 Wn. App. 408, 711 P.2d 377 (1985):

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