RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Nov 10, 2015, 12:59 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

NO. 92388-4

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

KEITH SCRIBNER,

Appellant.

# ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

MELANIE TRATNIK Assistant Attorney General WSBA #25576 800 5th Avenue Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-6430 OID: 91093

#

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

# IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Scribner's Petition To Review The Jury Unanimity Harmless Error Test Should Be Denied Because His Case Did Not Involve Multiple Acts, The Court Of Appeals Found No Error And His Convictions Were Affirmed On The Basis Of Well-Established Effective Assistance Of Counsel Case Law

# 1. Scribner's case did not involve multiple acts

Scribner claims the Court of Appeals "acknowledged that there were multiple acts alleged to constitute the basis for each count, but held that any violation of the right to jury unanimity was harmless." Pet. for Rev. at 7. He further claims the Court of Appeals found that "the prosecutor explicitly argued that each of several acts constituted attempted theft first degree." *Id.* Scribner's petition misrepresents the basis of the Court of Appeals opinion, and his assertion regarding the prosecutor's actions are contrary to the record.

The Court of Appeals opinion does not support Scribner's claim that the court agreed with him that there were multiple acts. The Court of Appeals, in its fact section, simply reiterated what defense counsel argued at trial. Slip. Op. at 4. This mere recitation of facts does not suggest that the Court of Appeals accepted this argument. Further, the Court of Appeals never stated that the prosecutor "explicitly argued that each of several acts" constituted either crime. Pet. for Rev. at 7. The record shows that this claim too, falsely attributed to the Court of Appeals, is incorrect.

The prosecutor explained in closing argument how the crime of False Claims or Proof was committed.

Count I is charged in jury instruction number 8. ... The heart of this case is elements one and two, which is that on January 11th, 2010, the defendant presented or caused to be

presented a false or fraudulent claim or proof in support of such claim. And that's what he did here. He doesn't file the claim; his mother does. The proof in support of such a claim is a statement about the size of the deck that he makes to Mr. Evans and that he makes to Mr. Steele on January 11th, 2010. RP 1164-65.

Next, the prosecutor explained how the crime of Attempted Theft in the First Degree was committed.

This is an attempted theft. So you have a definition in your jury instructions of substantial step. ... And here the substantial step is, again, this act on January of 2010 of misrepresenting the size of the prior awning. RP 1167-68.

Scribner's assertion that the prosecutor argued that more than one act constituted his crimes is contrary to the record.<sup>3</sup> All arguments stemming from that incorrect assertion are likewise unsubstantiated.

# 2. Scribner's case was affirmed on the basis that he received effective assistance of counsel

Scribner characterizes the issue on appeal as a multiple-act jury unanimity case in order to argue that his case involves "a significant question of law under the Constitution" that warrants review under

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Defense counsel's closing also made it clear that the basis of the charges was Scribner's January 11, 2010 misrepresentation regarding the size of the prior awning. "If he's going to make a false claim, he's got to offer false proof, and I ask you use your collective experience and your collective minds to talk about, does it make sense he's going to make a false statement on January 11<sup>th</sup> after giving all this stuff to them? RP 1226.

RAP 13.4(b)(3). His argument fails, because the Court of Appeals found this was an ineffective assistance of counsel case, not a jury unanimity case. "The issue is whether Mr. Scribner was denied effective assistance of counsel based on instructional and evidentiary error." Slip Op. at 5.

Scribner claimed instruction 15 prejudiced him, contending the jury could have misread it to say "theft" instead of "attempted theft," and thereby based its verdicts on an improper date range. The Court of Appeals rejected his claim that the jury could have been confused, noting that the record showed the actual charges were mentioned repeatedly. Slip Op. at 7. "[N]o reasonable possibility exists the jury convicted Mr. Scriber of an uncharged crime; thus, Mr. Scribner cannot show prejudice. Without this prong of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, Mr. Scribner's claim fails." Slip Op. at 7, citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed 674 (1984).

The Court of Appeals rejected Scribner's claim that his case involved multiple acts, finding there was no error because an election of a specific act had occurred. Slip Op. at 9-10. The court added that even if an election of a specified act had not occurred any error was harmless. *Id*. The Court of Appeals' reference to harmless error is dicta used to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The evidentiary issues were two issues unrelated to the jury instruction issue.
<sup>5</sup> Scribner's argument pertains only to the attempted theft count as even he does

not argue that a jury could have misread instruction 15 to say "false claims or proof."

emphasize that Scribner's jury unanimity argument lacks merit. Scribner's attempt to reframe his case from one decided on ineffective assistance of counsel grounds into a Constitutional claim worthy of review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) should be rejected.

# 3. The Court of Appeals addressed and rejected Scribner's claim that *Boyde v. California* entitles him to relief

Scribner also claims he is entitled to review because the Court of Appeals did not address his reference to *Boyde v. California*, 494 U.S. 370 (1990) which he states stands for the proposition that "jury instructions are constitutionally inadequate if 'there is a reasonable likelihood that the jury has applied the challenged instruction in a way' that is unconstitutional." 494 U.S. 370 (1990). Scribner's challenge is without merit, because the Court of Appeals found there was no reasonable possibility the jury misapplied the jury instructions. Slip Op. at 7. In short, the lower court did not ignore Scribner's *Boyde v. California* argument, it simply rejected it.

- 4. There is no basis for this Court to review its jury unanimity harmless error standard
  - a. A single sentence in *State v. Camarillo*, does not merit this Court reviewing Scribner's case

Scribner states the harmless error rule for jury unanimity cases is "so hopelessly confused" that his petition for review meets all the criteria in RAP 13.4(b). Scribner inflates any alleged confusion. Scribner claims

there are two harmless error rules for jury unanimity claims, and that the Court of Appeals applied the wrong one. He claims "the first rule" was announced in *State v. Petrich*, 6 101 Wn.2d 566, 683 P.2d 173 (1984), and that the Court announced "a second rule" in *State v. Kitchen*, 7 110 Wn.2d 403, 756 P.2d 105 (1988). Scribner contends this second enunciation of the harmless error rule in *Kitchen* is the correct rule. He contends the rule enunciated in *Kitchen* replaced the rule announced in *Petrich*, and that any mention of the language used in *Petrich* leads to confusion. Scribner misapprehends these two cases. *Kitchen* did not announce a different rule. Instead, the *Kitchen* Court explicitly stated it was simply "clarifying" the harmless error standard applied in *Petrich*. *Kitchen*, 120 Wn.2d at 405-06. *Petrich* has never been overturned or abrogated.

Scribner further claims this Court, in *State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 794 P.2d 850 (1990) was "confused" by what he characterizes as two different harmless error rules. 115 Wn.2d 60, 794 P.2d 850 (1990). He notes that the *Camarillo* Court, at times, used different language to describe harmless error. Scribner's argument is unpersuasive because this Court explained that what Scribner claims are two different rules is in fact

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> "The error is harmless only if a rational trier of fact could have found each incident proved beyond a reasonable doubt." *Petrich*, 101 Wn.2d at 573.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> "[T]he error will be deemed harmless only if no rational trier of fact could have entertained a reasonable doubt that each incident established the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d at 406.

the same rule explained in two different ways. "Our task is to determine whether a rational trier of fact could have a reasonable doubt as to whether any of the incidents did not establish the crime. *In other words*, whether the evidence of each incident established the crime beyond a reasonable doubt." *Id.* at 71. (emphasis added). Scribner's semantic dissection of the *Camarillo* Court's decision does not warrant this Court revisiting the harmless error rule.

b. This Court's jury unanimity harmless error rule was clearly enunciated in *State v. Coleman*, a decision that was issued seventeen years after *State v. Camarillo* and which cured any alleged defect found in *Camarillo* 

Even if this Court accepts Scribner's claim that the Court of Appeals misapprehended the harmless error rule by relying on this Court's 1990 opinion in *State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 794 P.2d 850 (1990), there is no basis upon which review should be accepted because this Court clearly enunciated the harmless error rule in its 2007 opinion in *State v. Coleman*, 159 Wn.2d 509, 150 P.3d 1126 (2007). This Court issued *State v. Camarillo* in 1990. 115 Wn.2d 60, 794 P.2d 850 (1990). In 2007, this Court again applied the harmless error standard to a jury unanimity challenge in *State v. Coleman*. 159 Wn.2d 509, 150 P.3d 1126 (2007). In *Coleman*, this Court stated:

Where there is neither an election nor a unanimity instruction in a multiple acts case, omission of the unanimity instruction is presumed to result in prejudice. ... A conviction beset by this error will not be upheld unless the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The presumption of error is overcome only if no rational juror could have a reasonable doubt as to any of the incidents alleged. *Coleman*, 159 Wn.2d at 512, citing *Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d at 411-12.

Coleman enunciated what Scribner characterizes as the "correct Kitchen rule." Scribner did not address Coleman in his petition.

Even if this Court accepts Scribner's claim that the *Camarillo* opinion was flawed any supposed confusion arising from that decision was cured by this Court's subsequent decision in *State v. Coleman.* 159 Wn.2d 509. Scribner's convictions were affirmed in an unpublished opinion that has no precedential authority. Any claimed misstatements by the Court of Appeals in no way impacts the clarity with which the harmless error rule was enunciated by this Court in *State. Coleman*, the controlling opinion for future courts addressing this issue. Scribner's petition to review an unpublished opinion with no precedential authority should be denied.

c. The Court of Appeals found no error and its passing reference to the harmless error rule does not effect Scribner's convictions

Scribner's claim that the Court of Appeal misstated the harmless error rule is irrelevant, because his case was not decided on harmless error grounds. His challenge also fails because any claimed error was harmless no matter how he frames the harmless error analysis. Here, Scribner conceded in trial testimony that he told Evans and Steele the incorrect awning size and that he told Evans there was no appraisal, RP 1090. Scribner's defense was that he did not remember the true size of the prior awning, and did not remember that he was present when the appraiser he hired the conduct came home the appraisal. RP 1099-1100, 1108, 1112. If a defendant in a multiple- act case raises the same defense for each act and the jury convicts, any claimed unanimity error is harmless because if "the jury reasonably believed one incident occurred, all the incidents must have occurred." State v. Bobenhouse. 166 Wn.2d 881, 894, 214 P.3d 907 (2009) (citations omitted). Here, the Court of Appeals found any perceived error harmless because "[a] rational juror considering this evidence could solely conclude Mr. Scribner lied." Slip. Op. at 10. Scribner used the same defense for both acts so the jury's belief that he lied attaches to both acts. Therefore, any alleged error is harmless regardless of how Scribner describes the harmless error test.<sup>8</sup>

B. Scribner Received Adequate Assistance Of Counsel Where Defense Counsel Did Not Object To Admissible Factual Testimony Regarding Why Scribner's Insurance Claim Was Denied, And Where Such Testimony Did Not Prejudice Scribner

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Further, Scribner conviction for False Claims or Proof is not effected by his claim that the jury could have misread instruction 15 to say "attempted theft" instead of "theft."

Scribner contends the Court of Appeals erred when it found that his counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to testimony that Liberty Northwest denied the claim based on fraud. The Court of Appeals concluded there was no error, because the testimony did not constitute impermissible opinion testimony regarding guilt. Slip Op. at 13. Scribner claims this Court should review this holding because it allegedly conflicts with *Warren v. Hart*, 71 Wn.2d 512, 514, 429 P.2d 873 (1967) and *State v. Quaale*, 182 Wn.2d 191, 193-95, 200, 340 P.3d 213 (2014). Scribner's argument is without merit because these cases are inapplicable to his case.

In Warren v. Hart this Court held that a police officer's non-issuance of a traffic citation was inadmissible in an action for damages resulting from a car collision. Warren, 71 Wn.2d at 514. This Court also held that counsel committed misconduct in closing by referring to police officers at the scene as "a little baby court" that had already conducted an investigation and determined the defendant was not at fault. Id. at 517.

In *State v. Quaale*, this Court held inadmissible a trooper's testimony that based on the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus (HGN) test alone he had "no doubt" the defendant was impaired. *Quaale*, 182 Wn.2d at 198-99. This Court explained that the HGN test shows that a person consumed intoxicants, but does not show how much was consumed. *Id.* By

testifying in absolute terms that the defendant was "impaired" the trooper imputed a level of scientific certainty to the HGN that does not exist. *Id*.

Both cases concerned a police officer declaring a person's guilt in absolute terms based on his or her investigation and assessment of the evidence. *Warren*, 71 Wn.2d at 517; *Quaale*, 182 Wn.2d at 198-99. Scribner's challenge fails because these cases about opinion testimony are inapplicable to the Court of Appeals' holding that Steele's testimony was a purely factual recitation of the chronology of events. Slip Op. at 13. Moreover, the Court of Appeals found that Scribner failed to establish the prejudice necessary to prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim because the "State's overwhelming evidence showed Mr. Scribner filed a false claim for a nonexistent deck cover[.]" Slip. Op. at 13.

Review under RAP 13.4(b) may be granted when a petitioner shows that a lower court's decision conflicts with existing case law. The cases Scribner relies on are not in conflict with the Court of Appeals decision, because they are inapplicable to his case. Scribner's petition for review on this ground should be denied.

C. Petitioner's Personal Restraint Petition Was Properly Dismissed Where He Failed To Establish That The Results Of An MRI Performed Two Business Days After He Was Sentenced Constitutes "Newly Discovered Evidence" That Could Not By Due Diligence Have Been Discovered During The Fifteen Month His Case Was Pending Trial

# 1. Facts pertaining to personal restraint petition

In 2003, Scribner filed for disability benefits claiming he suffered from memory impairment due to carbon monoxide exposure. Appendices E, F. The Office of the Insurance Commissioner (OIC) conducted an investigation into Scribner's disability claim. This investigation concluded that Scribner was not impaired in any way, cognitively or otherwise. Appendix E, p. 4.9 Scribner was not charged with a crime in that matter, but he agreed to terminate his disability benefits. Appendix F, pp. 1-2. The entire disability claim investigation was provided to Scribner as discovery in Scribner's criminal case. Appendix E, p. 4.

On November 11, 2011, Scribner was charged with False Claim or Proof and Attempted Theft in the First Degree. CP 1-3.<sup>10</sup>

On February 27, 2013, Scribner's case proceeded to trial. The parties entered a stipulation that Scribner would not offer evidence concerning purported cognitive deficits that allegedly resulted from Scribner's 2003 carbon monoxide exposure. Appendix F. Scribner entered the stipulation because he knew that if he claimed he was cognitively impaired due to carbon monoxide poisoning evidence of the past OIC investigation concluding he was not impaired could be admitted.

claim number from "Y08882975" to "Y0882975." CP 24-26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The page numbers in Appendix E refer to the numbers at the bottom right-hand corner of the page, not to the sequential order of the pages.

10 A Corrected Information was subsequently filed which changed the insurance

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